A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

 Richard and Debra Plein ask this Court to accept review of the Court 

of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Division I issued its published opinion in this case on July 29, 2019.  

It is set forth in the Appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 1. Does Washington law disfavor tactical motions to disqualify 
opposing counsel and, accordingly, should the affirmative burden of 
proving the basis for disqualification be placed on the party seeking such 
disqualification? 
 
 2. Do this Court’s 2006 Comments to RPC 1.9 govern the 
interpretation of whether attorneys’ former representation is “substantially 
related” to the present representation under the rule, and is the determination 
of “substantially related” a factual analysis? 
 
 3. Where attorneys’ former representation of an insurer was not 
the same matter as the present representation, the former representation was 
factually unconnected to the present representation, and the former 
representation merely involved matters of a similar type to the present 
representation that only gave the attorney general knowledge of the 
insurer’s practices and procedures that would have been revealed in 
discovery, did the trial court correctly conclude on substantial evidence that 
the representation was not “substantially related” and the attorneys’ 
disqualification was not merited under RPC 1.9,  as interpreted by this Court 
in Comments 2 and 3? 
 
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Division I’s opinion sets forth the facts and procedure in this case 

largely in an accurate fashion, with several significant exceptions.   
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First, the Court largely glosses over USAA’s outrageous conduct 

that was the predicate for the Pleins’ present action.  As noted in the Pleins’ 

complaint, CP 1-7, 138-45, USAA’s favored contractor, Stirling Group 

LLC, failed to repair the damages to the Pleins’ home occasioned by a fire 

loss covered under the Pleins’ USAA policy.  CP 3.  The Pleins were forced 

to retain a public adjuster to secure their USAA policy’s coverages, CP 4, 

224-26, USAA then failed to investigate or offer payment for the additional 

repairs for more than a year.  As of November 2017, more than two years 

after the fire occurred, USAA still had not provided coverage for the Pleins’ 

home repairs.  CP 4.  Further, USAA shorted the Pleins on the living 

expenses under their policy’s alternate living expenses (“ALE”) coverage 

to which they were entitled while their house was under repair.  CP 161-

223, 241-42.   

After the Pleins were forced to hire attorney Joel Hanson to sue 

USAA when USAA did not resolve the coverage issues with the public 

adjuster, Hanson approached Keller Rohrback (“Keller”) partner, William 

Smart, about representing the Pleins.1  Although Irene Hecht, a partner at 

Keller, had previously represented USAA for a number of years in coverage 

 
1  Hanson maintained an independent law practice unaffiliated with Keller; he has 

never represented USAA.  CP 15.   
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and insurance bad faith claims brought by USAA policyholders, CP 14,2 the 

attorney-client relationship between USAA and Keller ended in the fall of 

2017.  Id.  It is undisputed that from November 2017 forward USAA was a 

former client of the firm.  RPC 1.9. 

Keller performed a conflict check that revealed Keller’s past USAA 

representation, but that check confirmed that Keller’s past work for USAA 

never involved the Pleins, their insurance claim, or their lawsuit.  CP 15.3  

Smart and his colleague Ian Birk never represented USAA.  They had no 

knowledge of any attorney-client communications with USAA, and no 

knowledge of, and no access to, any USAA files or documents provided to 

Keller at any time, for the reasons noted supra.  CP 15, 27.   

On January 25, 2018, Birk appeared for the Pleins and sent a letter 

to USAA’s counsel advising that the firm would shortly appear on the 

 
2  Although no screening is required due to the lack of a conflict, Hecht had no 

involvement in the present matter.  CP 14, 29-30.  Keller’s USAA representation was 
performed solely by Hecht and by attorneys and staff reporting to her.  Id.  Indeed, during 
Keller’s USAA representation, its attorney-client communications were not shared outside 
Hecht and her team, both formally and informally.  On a formal basis, the firm maintained 
internal controls to prevent access by lawyers and staff outside of Hecht’s team to any 
material relating to any USAA matters.  CP 27.  Thus, even if another member of the firm 
attempted to access a USAA file, the access would be denied automatically.  On an 
informal basis, lawyers at the firm customarily did not discuss confidential client 
information outside the lawyers and staff working on a particular matter.   

 
3  At no time did Keller or any of its lawyers or staff perform any USAA work 

regarding the Pleins’ insurance claim or the Plein matter, nor was the matter ever called to 
the firm’s attention.  CP 14.   Neither Hecht nor any Keller attorneys or staff who formerly 
worked on USAA matters had any contact with Hanson or the Pleins, nor with the Plein 
file.  CP 15, 29.   
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Pleins’ behalf, and asking about USAA’s lack of reimbursement of the 

Pleins’ ALE expenses, explaining that the Pleins would seek relief in court 

if USAA did not resume paying their utilities.  CP 15-16.  Approximately 

an hour after Keller’s notice of association was filed, USAA’s counsel 

asserted that Keller’s representation of the Pleins created a conflict of 

interest, and demanded that Keller withdraw immediately, threatening to 

move to disqualify both Keller and Hanson if Keller did not withdraw.  CP 

16.4 

 On January 31, 2019, Keller consulted with outside ethics counsel, 

Seattle University Professor David Boerner, CP 17, a fact nowhere 

referenced in Division I’s opinion.  Keller believed, and Professor Boerner 

confirmed, that it could not simply withdraw from representing the Pleins 

based on USAA’s assertion of a conflict, as this would not be in the Pleins’ 

best interest.  CP 17, 32-33.   

 Later that day, Hanson sought clarification from USAA’s counsel 

about whether USAA was seeking his disqualification.  CP 17.  USAA 

responded, explaining that it needed Keller/Hanson’s immediate 

withdrawal because the Pleins had filed a motion relating to USAA’s 

 
4  The threat against Hanson evidenced the tactical nature of USAA’s effort.   
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nonpayment of their ongoing utility expenses.  CP 17-18.5  USAA’s counsel 

implied that it would be “flexible” about the timing of addressing the 

conflict issue, if the Pleins would give USAA more time to respond on the 

utility issue.  CP 18.  This proposal was not in the Pleins’ interest.6  USAA 

leveraged the asserted conflict to further delay addressing the Pleins’ 

covered ALE.  Id.   

 Professor Boerner completed his analysis, concluding that Keller’s 

representation of the Pleins was not a prohibited conflict, because the Plein 

matter was not substantially related to any matter on which Keller formerly 

represented USAA.  CP 31-37.7   

 When USAA filed its motion to disqualify Keller, Professor Boerner 

offered an extensive declaration on RPC 1.9 reaffirming his opinion that the 

Pleins’ case was factually unrelated to any matter on which Keller formerly 

 
5  Division I did not mention this key fact, evidencing USAA’s tactical intent in 

seeking Keller’s disqualification, anywhere in its opinion.   
 
6  At the time of this exchange, the Pleins were out of heating oil and, living 

paycheck-to-paycheck, faced difficulty paying for fuel.  Even though the Pleins’ residence 
was damaged, they still were forced to pay ongoing expenses related to it, such as the 
mortgage and the house’s upkeep.  CP 18.  The rent and the utilities at their temporary 
rental were additional living expenses covered under the ALE portion of their USAA 
policy.   

 
7  Meanwhile, although no sharing of USAA material ever occurred within the 

Keller firm, the firm again instructed all firm personnel to screen any past USAA 
information from firm personnel who did not work on USAA matters, including 
specifically those working on the Plein matter.  CP 27.   
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represented USAA.  The trial court ruled that Hanson8 and Keller could 

continue representing the Pleins.  CP 130.  The trial court’s February 14, 

2018 order made the specific finding that this case “is factually distinct from 

and not substantially related to the firm’s prior representation of USAA and 

as a result, the firm’s representation of the Pleins is not a conflict under RPC 

1.9.”  CP 129-30.  Given the Boerner declaration, substantial evidence 

supported the trial court’s decision, a point nowhere noted in Division I’s 

opinion, particularly given its off-hand mention of the trial court decision.  

Op. at 4.  (“The trial court allowed the Keller attorneys and Mr. Hanson to 

remain as counsel for the Pleins.”).9   

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

 This Court should review Division I’s published opinion, RAP 

13.4(b)(4), because it is published, it involves an issue of first impression, 

op. at 9, and it falls within the particular responsibility of this Court, the 

interpretation of lawyer ethics rules. 

 
8  Hanson never had any conflict of interest in this matter, and USAA had no basis 

to disqualify him.  Division I’s Commissioner agreed in her ruling granting discretionary 
review.  USAA abandoned any claim that Hanson should be disqualified below. 

 
9  The trial court also granted the Pleins’ emergency motion asking for USAA to 

comply with its policy terms and make interim payments for the Pleins’ utility costs while 
they were living in their rental home.  USAA sought discretionary review of that decision, 
but it was denied.  That effort, however, documents the extent to which USAA would go 
in depriving the Pleins of necessary living expenses for their temporary rental, including 
heating expenses during the winter.   
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(1) Washington Law Disfavors Attorney Disqualification 

In general terms, Washington law disfavors efforts to disqualify 

opposing counsel, particularly as a tactical weapon.10  This is particularly 

so where a client is deprived of their chosen counsel.11  Also, because a 

motion for disqualification is such a “potent weapon” and “can be misused 

as a technique of harassment,” courts must exercise extreme caution in 

considering it to be sure it is not being used to harass the attorney sought to 

be disqualified, or the party she/he represents.12  

The above policy reasons are why the party seeking to disqualify 

counsel historically has the burden of proof.  Sanders v. Woods, 121 Wn. 

App. 593, 597-98, 89 P.3d 312 (2004).  (“In order to successfully disqualify 

 
10  See, e.g., In re Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130, 140, 916 P.2d 411 (1996) 

(“Disqualification of counsel is a drastic remedy that exacts a hard penalty from the parties 
as well as punishing counsel;”); Foss Maritime Co. v. Brandewiede, 190 Wn. App. 186, 
189, 359 P.3d 905 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1012 (2016) (disqualification is a 
drastic remedy to be employed only in “compelling circumstances;” court reversed 
disqualification order). 

 
11  See, e.g., Plant Genetic Sys., N.V. v. Ciba Seeds, 933 F. Supp. 514, 517 

(M.D.N.C. 1996) (“The guiding principle in considering a motion to disqualify counsel is 
safeguarding the integrity of the court proceedings; the purpose of granting such motions 
is to eliminate the threat that the litigation will be tainted.”); Tessier v. Plastic Surgery 
Specialists, Inc., 731 F. Supp. 724, 729 (E.D. Va. 1990) (“There must be a balance between 
the client's free choice of counsel and the maintenance of the highest ethical and 
professional standards in the legal community.”); Metrahealth Ins. Co. v. Anclote 
Psychiatric Hosp., 961 F. Supp. 1580, 1582 (M.D. Fla. 1997) (“The disqualification of 
one’s chosen counsel is an extraordinary measure that should be resorted to sparingly.”). 

 
12  See, e.g., Kitchen v. Aristech Chem., 769 F. Supp. 254, 256–57 (S.D. Ohio 

1991); see also, Developments in the Law: Conflict of Interest in the Legal Profession, 94 
Harv. L. Rev. 1244, 1285 (1981) (“Lawyers have discovered that disqualifying counsel is 
a successful trial strategy, capable of creating delay, harassment, additional expense, and 
perhaps even resulting in the withdrawal of a dangerously competent counsel.”).    
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a lawyer from representing an adversary, a former client must show that the 

matters currently at issue are substantially related to the subject matter of 

the former representation.”)  Division I seemingly ignored this aspect of 

Sanders, asserting the question of the burden in disqualification is 

unresolved in Washington, and then declining to resolve the question.  Op. 

at 5 n.2. 

Insofar as Sanders may be of questionable authority, as will be noted 

infra, this Court should reaffirm the appropriate principles governing 

disqualification of counsel in Washington to give guidance to the bench and 

bar; in particular, it should grant review to affirm that the burden in such 

disqualification efforts rests with the party seeking an attorney’s 

disqualification.  RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4).  

(2) RPC 1.9 Must Be Interpreted in Light of This Court’s 2006 
Adoption of Comments to the Rule 
 

This Court’s adoption of the RPCs is a function of its power to 

regulate the practice of law in Washington.  Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 

251, 261, 830 P.2d 646 (1992); Chism v. Tri-State Construction, Inc., 193 

Wn. App. 818, 838, 374 P.3d 193, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1013 (2016) 

(regulation of the practice of law is within the Supreme Court’s inherent 

power). The current RPCs, including official Comments, are based on the 
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ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct,13 and were adopted by this 

Court in 2006.  LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 

76 n.13, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014).   

Critically, the 2006 Comments to RPC 1.9 emanate from this Court, 

the ultimate authority for lawyer discipline in Washington.14  Those 

Comments must guide the understanding of RPC 1.9, notwithstanding 

whatever Court of Appeals case law prior to 2006 might have provided, as 

Division I correctly concluded.  Op. at 8-9.  But Division I failed to apply 

those Comments, as will be noted infra, and simply ignored the trial court’s 

factual findings that were based on the expert testimony of Professor David 

Boerner.  Reading RPC 1.9 in full, including the full text of Comments 2 

and 3, reveals that the trial court properly denied USAA’s motion to 

disqualify Keller. 

 
13  The Washington State Bar Association appointed a special committee, the 

Ethics 2003 Commission, to evaluate the American Bar Association’s 2003 Model Rules 
of Professional Conduct.  In 2006, this Court largely adopted the Ethics 2003 
Commission’s recommendation to accept the ABA’s Model Rules.  Johanna M. Ogdon, 
Washington’s New Rules of Professional Conduct: A Balancing Act, 30 Seattle U. L. Rev. 
245, 245-46 (2006).   

 
14  In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Marshall, 160 Wn.2d 317, 329, 157 

P.3d 859 (2007) (“This Court bears the ultimate responsibility for lawyer discipline in 
Washington.”).   

 



Petition for Review - 10 
 

USAA argued below for an RPC-based “duty of loyalty” on the part 

of counsel to former clients.  App. Br. at 13-15; Reply Br. at 20-22.15  But 

any analysis regarding “appearances” and “loyalty” involve out of date 

terminology in ethical rules.  The ABA’s Code of Professional 

Responsibility had “Canons,” “Ethical Considerations,” and “Disciplinary 

Rules.”  It mentioned the appearance of professional impropriety.  ABA 

2004 ed. Compendium of Professional Responsibility and Standards at 271-

73.  The modern version of RPC 1.9 did not employ the “appearance” 

terminology because of concerns regarding its vagueness articulated by the 

ABA’s Kutak Commission that studied the Code of Professional 

Responsibility.  The ABA’s Model Rules of Professional Conduct, of which 

Rule 1.9 is a part, supplanted the older Code with its “canons” and 

“appearances.”  Monroe Freedman, The Kutak Model Rules v. The 

 
15  In discussing RPC 1.10, Division I adopted a general, highly non-specific “duty 

of loyalty,” despite the ABA/Washington rule history and this Court’s Comments 2 and 3 
to RPC 1.9.  However, in so doing, Division I ignored the portion of RPC 1.10 that permits 
the screening of counsel in a firm, RPC 1.10(d)-(e).  Op. at 6-7.  Screening has traditionally 
been seen as a means of mitigating and avoiding attorney conflicts.  For example, RPC 
1.10(e) allows it to address an attorney coming to a new firm.  See PNC Bank, N.A. v. EP 
Curragh, LLC, 2019 WL 3417058 (Ill. App. 2019).  RPC 1.11 allows screening for former 
government attorneys coming back to private practice.  But Division I’s broad brush 
analysis of RPC 1.9 will give rise to the very types of tactical disqualification motions this 
Court rejected in adopting RPC 1.10(d), (e) and RPC 1.11.   
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American Lawyer’s Code of Conduct, 26 Vill. L. Rev. 1165 (1981); 

Kathleen Maher, Keeping Up Appearances, 16 Prof. Law. 1 (2005).16   

Division I correctly concluded that the terms of RPC 1.9, as 

explained in the 2006 Comments, govern a lawyer’s duties to former clients 

in Washington, specifically prohibiting a lawyer from representing another 

person adverse to a former client only “in the same or a substantially related 

matter.”  RPC 1.9(a).  Op. at 9.  Thus, put another way, the lawyer may 

represent another person adverse to a former client in matters that are not 

“the same” or “substantially related,” as RPC 1.9(a) states.  See Appendix.   

Indeed, the October 5, 2011 report of the ABA’s Commission on 

Evaluation of the Rules of Professional Conduct specifically discussed the 

changes in RPC 1.9 from an earlier November 2000 Report to its May 2001 

Report.  https://www.americanbar.org/groups/professional_responsibility/ 

policy/ethics_2000_commission/e2k_chan_june/.  The May 2001 Report 

rejected language in RPC 1.9 that stated matters were “substantially 

related” if they involved the “same subject matter,” in favor of “same 

 
16  The ABA’s Model Rules, including Rule 1.9, rejected those old canons.  Under 

those Rules, the mere possession of confidential information no longer results in an 
attorney’s automatic disqualification based on any “appearances” or “duty of loyalty,” if 
the matters are dissimilar.  Instead, the lawyer must refrain from disclosure of such 
confidences under RPC 1.9(c), the subsection of the rule prohibiting disclosure of 
confidences regardless of the similarity of matters.  That there is no automatic 
disqualification of an attorney based solely on that attorney’s retention of some confidences 
from the former client is evidenced by the fact that RPC 1.9(c) would be unnecessary if 
that were true.   
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transaction or legal dispute.”  The Report stated that this change was 

intended “to further refine and cabin the concept of substantial relationship, 

particularly as it affects the potential disqualification of former lawyers for 

an organization including the government.”   

This Court’s Comments 2 and 3 clearly reflect such an 

understanding of RPC 1.9, standing in stark contrast to Division I’s opinion.   

After the 2006 rule change, this Court has not construed what the 

terms “same” or “substantially related” mean in the context of RPC 1.9.  

Clearly, whether the representations are the “same” is a factual 

determination.  Whether the representations are “substantially related” 

should also be a factual determination, but Division I here effectively 

treated the determination as legal in nature. 

Pre-2006 case law from the Court of Appeals indicated that the 

question of “substantially related” was factual.  Sanders, 121 Wn. App. at 

597-600; State v. Hunsaker, 74 Wn. App. 38, 873 P.2d 540 (1994).  Sanders 

illustrates what “factually related” means, and it does not support Division 

I’s analysis.17  It is not enough that the subject matter is “similar,” there 

 
17  In Sanders, a hotel owner sued a former employee for violating a noncompete 

agreement.  A lawyer who sought to represent the employee, had previously represented 
the hotel owner and had advised the hotel owner on the very noncompete agreement at 
issue.  Sanders, 121 Wn. App. at 596.  As Division III explained, that lawyer (and his 
business partner) had previously sent other former employees “cease and desist” letters 
based on the same noncompete agreement, and had specifically “reviewed the independent 
contractor agreements” and advised that they “appeared adequate.”  Id. at 598.  The lawyer 
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must be facts in common, such as the facts surrounding the drafting of the 

noncompete agreement at issue in Sanders.  Put bluntly, “substantially

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