FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/19/2019 2:18 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97563-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD PLEIN, a married person, and DEBRA PLEIN (formerly Debra De Witt), a married person, and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners,

V.

USAA CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, an insurance company,

Respondents,

and

THE STERLING GROUP, INC. (doing business as The Sterling Group, DKI), a corporation,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert S. McLay (WSBA No. 32662) Joshua N. Kastan (WSBA No. 50899) John B. Stauffer (WSBA No. 49920) Attorneys for Respondents USAA Casualty Insurance Company

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

E. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review.

Petitioners specifically seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) (*see* Petition, page 6) and also make reference to RAP 13.4(b)(2). (Id. at 8.) "Review of a court's decision to grant or deny a motion to disqualify counsel is a legal question that is reviewed de novo." (Sanders v. Woods, 121 Wn. App. 593, 597, 89 P.3d 312 (2004) (citing Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457-58, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992)).)

Review should only be granted under limited circumstances outlined by "Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review" where under the relevant subsections this Court accepts a petition for review only: "(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;" or "(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." (RAP 13.4(b).) Petitioner's reasoning under RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (b)(4) both fail because the published opinion by the Court of Appeals is a sound decision.

2. The Pleins' Petition for Review Should be Denied.

Division I's ruling establishes why the RPCs expressly prohibit Keller's representation of the Pleins. The Petition's opening argument seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) for an issue of substantial public interest, asserting that the inquiry involves a published decision, an issue of first impression, and this Court's interpretation of lawyer ethics rules.

To the extent Keller is using this scenario as a test case to determine whether a firm can affirmatively prosecute extracontractual claims against a longstanding institutional client – for whom it defended the *exact same types* of actions in Washington State and during which it *learned*, *developed*, and shared trade and legal defense secrets – this Court need not grant review to rectify such behavior, as Division I has fulfilled the task.

This case is really about business, client confidences and conflicts. Specifically, a decade-long relationship where Keller benefited as a near-exclusive first-party and bad faith litigation defense counsel for USAA CIC and its affiliates in Washington State. Keller's representation of its former client spanned years on these exact types of extracontractual suits, all while gaining USAA CIC's confidences and litigation strategies as a client – and enriching the Keller firm for its labor as counsel. Now, Keller seeks to prosecute the same type of claims *against* USAA CIC in a substantially related case – posing a material conflict and threatening its former client.

Keller largely unopposed the facts of the prior client representation.

The crux of this Petition attempts to now shift the burden of Keller's ethical duties under the RPC to elicit an offering of "proof" and place an unfounded

evidentiary burden onto its former client to demonstrate why Keller's representation in Plein is adverse to USAA CIC. USAA CIC established that a conflict exists, which it voiced to Keller at the onset. Application of the RPC needs no further exploration by this Court, as Division I bluntly states with respect to the RPC, "The Comment accompanying each Rule explains and illustrates the meaning and purpose of the Rule," yet "[t]he Comments are intended as guides to interpretation, but the text of each Rule is authoritative." (Plein, 445 P.3d at 579 (citing to RPC Scope[21]).)

The inquiry under RPC 1.9 is "whether the lawyer was so involved in the matter that the subsequent representation can be justly regarded as a *changing of sides* in the matter in question." (FMC Technologies, Inc., 420 F. Supp. 2d at 1159 (W.D. Wash. 2006) (emphasis in original) (quoting MODEL RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 1.9 cmt. 2 (2004)); Sanders, 121 Wn. App. at 598, 89 P.3d 312 (noting "[t]he decision turns on whether the lawyer was so involved in the former representation that he can be said to have switched sides") (citing State v. Hunsaker, 74 Wn. App. 38, 46, 873 P.2d 540 (1994)).)

RPC 1.9 concerns the prohibition of disclosure of confidences and breaching the duty of loyalty that an attorney owes his clients. (*See, e.g.*, FMC Technologies, Inc., 420 F. Supp. 2d at 1161; Sanders, 121 Wn. App. at 598, 89 P.3d 312; Teja v. Saran, 68 Wn. App. 793, 798-99, 846 P.2d 1375 (1993), review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1008 (1993).) Does "the instant suit constitute[] side-switching in factually intertwined lawsuits that implicates disclosure of confidences *or* breach of the duty of loyalty[?]" (FMC Technologies, Inc., 420 F. Supp. 2d at 1159 (emphasis added).) In this case, the answer is "yes." "Parties are allowed to switch sides; lawyers are not . . . '[c]onflicts of interest arise whenever an attorney's loyalties are divided

..." (Id. at 1160 (quoting <u>United States v. Stewart</u>, 185 F.3d 112, 121 (3d Cir. 1999), <u>cert. denied</u>, 528 U.S. 1063 (1999)).)

Keller's loyalties are divided because when Keller agreed to represent the Pleins it breached the duty of loyalty to USAA CIC. Keller associated in as attorneys on this extracontractual property damage case *against* its former client (to wit, only two months after the prior decade-long representation for USAA CIC ended), such activity is expressly prohibited by the RPC and on its face appears unethical without informed written consent. The trial court improperly condoned Keller's behavior, essentially "switching sides" to represent a party materially adverse to USAA CIC.

This is a stark breach of the duties of loyalty and client confidences. The case is about money, fees, and Keller using a decade-long, intertwined client relationship with USAA CIC in defending extracontractual claims, only for Keller to now advance a lawsuit against its prior client with the prospect of its own financial gain from the opposite spectrum.

With overwhelming case precedent and plain language of the RPC at issue, which include this Court's interpretation and Washington State Courts' application over the past few decades, a fervent policy rationale exists for the procedure currently in place to protect the public interest. Under the present interpretation of the RPC, when concern for potential conflict in a litigated matter is set forth by a former client, there is no requirement for any actual disclosure of confidences or burden upon that client. Rather, the mere prospect of confidences becoming disclosed by a lawyer in an adversarial role against its former client, or a threat of conflicting interest without an informed, written consent waiver, properly places the burden upon the firm subject to disqualification.

To require otherwise, or to develop a different disqualification

procedure, would create an unwarranted and untenable process to not only discredit the RPC, but also abrogate the duties of attorney loyalty and ethics onto the very clients whom Washington State attorneys are sworn to protect. At Keller's behest, Petitioners unreasonably request that this Court shift the burden in establishing a conflict exists onto its former client, USAA CIC.

3. USAA CIC Responded to the Pleins' Motion and Never Tactically "Moved" for Disqualification.

The Petition at page 5 wrongly states that USAA CIC filed a motion to disqualify. At issue is Keller's association of counsel for the Pleins, which was objected to at the onset by Keller's former client, USAA CIC. Keller then filed its own affirmative motion with the trial court for a ruling on the asserted conflict. To the extent the Petition misconstrues the record below, there was no gamesmanship or attempt to assert a tactical advantage by USAA CIC. The opposite is true, and deflection of the crucial issue here where an actual conflict exists – and Keller being put on notice of same – should enlighten the Court in its decision to decline review.

4. Washington Rules of Professional Conduct Govern and Properly Support Disqualification.

In FMC Techs., Inc. v. Edwards, 420 F. Supp. 2d 1153 (W.D. Wash. 2006), the Western District of Washington analyzed former-client conflicts of interest under the RPC, noting implications where, "[i]n determining whether a violation of Rule 1.9 requires disqualification, the burden of proof rests 'upon the firm whose disqualification is sought." (FMC Techs., Inc. v. Edwards, 420 F. Supp. 2d 1153, 1157–58 (W.D. Wash. 2006) (quoting Amgen, Inc. v. Elanex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 160 F.R.D. 134, 139-40 (W.D.Wash.1994) (citing MODEL RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 1.9 cmt.

8)).)2

Washington legal ethics rules regarding Duties to Former Clients (RPC 1.9) and Imputation of Conflicts of Interest (RPC 1.10) necessitate the conclusion that Keller is conflicted from representing the Pleins in the present litigation. RPC 1.10(a) provides the basis for USAA CIC's position that the conflict is *per se* imputed to the entire firm, which was not visibly addressed in the Petition. Comment [2] to RPC 1.10 emphasizes the imputation rule, which "gives effect to the principle of loyalty to the client" and is derived from "the premise that a firm of lawyers *is essentially one lawyer for purposes of the rules governing loyalty to the client*, or from the premise that each lawyer is vicariously bound by the obligation of loyalty owed by each lawyer with whom the lawyer is associated." (RPC 1.10, Cmt. 2 (emphasis added).)

This baseline rule absolutely prohibits Keller's involvement in the instant case. Absent informed written consent, the duty to establish a conflict does not exist – or to constructively demonstrate an exception or curable remedy to *any* potential conflict – is and should remain to be impressed upon the lawyer or firm against whom disqualification is sought.

Given the direct reference to RPC 1.9 within RPC 1.10(a), the ethical bounds of RPC 1.9 are also relevant here to firmly root the bona fides of a conflict inquiry and, ultimately, a just disqualification. Among other restrictions, under RPC 1.9 an attorney (or, by extension under RPC

_

² The Court in FMC Techs., Inc., 420 F. Supp. 2d 1153 (W.D. Wash. 2006) notes that the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct and Comments, while not binding in Washington, "are 'instructive' when interpreting Washington RPCs that are analogous to the ABA Model Rules." (FMC Techs., Inc. at 1158 (W.D. Wash. 2006) (citing Teja v. Saran, 68 Wash.App. 793, 846 P.2d 1375, 1378 n. 4 (1993); also citing State v. Hunsaker, 74 Wash.App. 38, 873 P.2d 540, 544–45 (1994)).)

1.10 (*supra*), an *entire firm*) cannot represent a client whose interests are materially adverse to that of a former client *absent informed consent*:

A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

(RPC 1.9(a); Decl. Spitzer, APX098-099 at ¶ 11.)

As University of Washington School of Law Professor Hugh Spitzer has opined on record in the lower court for this matter:

[T]he key to analyzing whether a lawyer (or any lawyers in a firm) may represent a client adverse to a former client, is whether the relevant matter is the 'same or substantially related' to one or more matters that the firm had handled for the former client.

(Decl. Spitzer, APX099 at ¶ 12.) Therefore, in this regard:

[T]he factual context is key: did the lawyer and law firm just obtain general knowledge of a former client's practices, or a deep understanding and factual awareness of the former client's philosophy, approach, and strategies as well as specific facts about the client and its operations.

(Decl. Spitzer, APX100 at ¶ 15.) This case unquestionably presents the latter scenario, for Keller's prior representation allowed it to obtain a deep understanding and factual awareness of the former client's philosophy, approach, and strategies, in addition to specific facts for the institutional client's thought processes and litigation operations.

Here, this qualifies as a substantially related matter in Keller now representing the Pleins, posing a substantial risk that Keller had obtained confidential, factual information regarding the insurer that would materially advance the insured Pleins' claim against Keller's former client insurer.3

13

^{3 (}See Plein v. USAA Casualty Insurance Company, 445 P.3d at 581 (see also hn. 5, defining "substantially related matter" and viewing RPC 1.9 Comment 3 as instrumental for identifying a substantial risk for conflict because potential disclosure of confidences

5. The Appellate Court Appropriately Interpreted RPC 1.9 and RPC 1.10 Under This Court's Historic Application of the 2006 Amendments and Adopted Comments.

The Pleins' Petition at page 11 states how Division I's published opinion correctly concluded that the terms of RPC 1.9 govern a lawyer's duties to former clients in Washington; specifically, prohibiting a lawyer from representing another person adverse to a former client "in the same or substantially related matter." RPC 1.9(a). This precisely defines the nature and completeness of Division I's factual analysis in the subject case, where there is no support for the Pleins' contention that Division I somehow made the determination to disqualify deficiently or only *legal* in nature.

Historically, before Division I's recent guidance and detailed inquiry in its ruling, the precedent on this issue included a line of cases interpreting language within the RPCs prior to this Court's adoption of the 2006 Amendments and Comments. Analysis of the words "substantially related" within RPC 1.9 is based on the contextual analysis of the facts, where a court is to consider the information previously obtained by prior representation of the former client and whether that "privileged information" could work against the former client's interest in the present matter. (*See* Hunsaker, 74 Wn. App. at 45, 873 P.2d 540 (referencing the analysis of State v. Stenger, 111 Wn.2d 516, 521-22, 760 P.2d 357 (1988)).)

Therefore, "substantially related" has never been about whether it is the same defendant or same plaintiff – the analysis is more complicated. It is about whether "the representations 'are relevantly interconnected or reveal the client's pattern of conduct." (Sanders, 121 Wn. App. at 599, 89 P.3d 312 (quoting Hunsaker, 74 Wn. App. at 44, 873 P.2d 540); *see also*

14

from prior firm's (Keller) representation in present litigation for another party (Pleins) against the same firm's former client (USAA CIC)).)

FMC Technologies, Inc., 420 F. Supp. 2d at 1159; Koch v. Koch Industries, 798 F. Supp. 1525, 1536 (D. Kan. 1992).)

"[A] commonality of legal claims or issues is not required. . . . [T]he inquiry is whether 'the attorneys were trying to acquire information vitally related to the subject matter of the pending litigation.' . . . What confidential information could have been imparted involves considering what information and facts ought to have been or would typically be disclosed in such a relationship."

(Hunsaker, 74 Wn. App. at 44, 873 P.2d 540 (emphasis added) (quoting Koch, 798 F. Supp. at 1536).)

Division I's analysis fully considers the complex relationship between Keller and USAA CIC and its affiliated companies, in addition to the large amount of information acquired in the 10-year relationship. In doing so, it addressed the lower court's deficient analysis of the potential harm caused by Keller's continued representation of the Pleins.

The Court of Appeals was guided by this Court's inherent power to regulate the practice of law in Washington under Chism v. Tri-State Constr. Inc., 193 Wash. App. 818, 374 P.3d 193 (2016), and through the high court's adoption of the current version of RPC 1.9 and the associated comments in 2006 (Plein, 445 P.3d at 579 (citing RPC 1.9 & cmts. 1-9 at 157 Wn.2d 1202-06 (2006)).) Comment 3 to RPC 1.9 provided further guidance to Division I on what is considered a "substantially related matter" because, since the adoption of the comments in 2006, until now no published Washington case has served as authority for "[interpretation of] the comments to RPC 1.9 in order to address the definition of 'substantially related matter.'" (Plein, 445 P.3d at 579 (2019).) Division I correctly outlines its holding based on why the more "stringent standard" within Comment 3, rather than definitions applied in pre-2006 case law, is on point: Matters are "substantially related" for purposes of this Rule if they involve

the same transaction or legal dispute or if there otherwise is a substantial risk that confidential factual information as would normally have been obtained in the prior representation would materially advance the client's position in the subsequent matter.

(Plein, 445 P.3d at 579 (citing to RPC 1.9, Comment 3 (emphasis added in original)).)

Division I applied the definition as well as other provisions from the comments within this Court's adoption of the 2006 RPC to conclude that Keller's current representation in the Plein matter and Keller's prior representation of USAA CIC qualify as being substantially related. (Id.)

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